#### **RECEIVED**

12-08-2015

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP001645-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ISIAH O. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom, Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The State introduced video evidence reflecting that Mr. Smith and his co-defendant were let into an apartment building by a third man. The video showed Mr. Smith and his co-defendant running out of the apartment building shortly thereafter, with the co-defendant now holding a gun in his hand (which was not in sight when they entered the building). The video further showed Mr. Smith and his co-defendant run to a car which had its headlights on. The third man was shot and killed, though the video did not capture the actual act. The State presented no other evidence to establish what, if anything, Mr. Smith knew about what would occur on that day.

## I. Did the State Present Sufficient Evidence for the Jury to Conclude that Mr. Smith was Guilty of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime?

The jury convicted Mr. Smith of a lesser-included offense of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime, rejecting a conviction for either First Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime or Felony Murder, and further acquitting him of Attempted Armed Robbery as Party to a Crime. (70). The circuit court denied Mr. Smith's post-conviction challenge for a judgment of acquittal on grounds of insufficient evidence. (51;App.105-109).

Defense counsel asked the court to read to the jury an instruction derived from a Seventh Circuit pattern instruction, which would have provided: "If a defendant performed acts that advanced the crime but

had no knowledge that the crime was being or about to be committed, those acts are not sufficient by themselves to establish the defendant's guilt."

## II. Did the Circuit Court Err in Denying the Defense Request for a "Mere Presence" Jury Instruction?

The circuit court denied the defense request, concluding that there was not "any evidence in the record to support the proposition that Mr. Smith had no knowledge that the crime was being committed or about to be committed." (66:13-24;App.150-161). The circuit court post-conviction reaffirmed its decision denying the requested instruction. (51;App.105-109).

During deliberations, it was brought to the court's attention that one of the jurors had been discussing with his mother his fear of retaliation for a guilty verdict from persons in the courtroom who he believed to be Mr. Smith's family. The juror's mother in turn had been communicating about this during the trial with an Assistant District Attorney with whom she was friends. Following a colloquy of the juror and the Assistant District Attorney who was communicating with the juror's mother, defense counsel did not object to the juror remaining on the jury.

# III. Was Mr. Smith Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel Where His Attorney Did Not Object to the Juror—Who Feared Retaliation from Persons He Believed to be Mr. Smith's Family—Remaining on the Jury?

The circuit court denied Mr. Smith's post-conviction motion for a new trial without an evidentiary hearing. (51;App.105-109).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Smith would welcome oral argument should this Court find it helpful. Publication may be warranted to develop the law concerning a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence when the defendant has been charged as party to a crime.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### A. Procedural History

Mr. Smith faced trial for two counts stemming from the same incident: one count of First Degree Reckless Homicide with Use of a Dangerous Weapon, as Party to a Crime, and one count of Attempted Armed Robbery, Use of Force, as Party to a Crime. (2;7;14). The complaint alleged that a man was shot and killed in the hallway of his apartment building, and that video surveillance showed Mr. Smith and co-actor Unquail Kennedy enter the apartment building and, moments later, leaving the building. (2). The complaint further alleged that when they left, Mr. Kennedy had a cell phone in one hand and a gun in the other, and that Mr. Smith followed Mr. Kennedy out of the building, with a cell phone in his hand. (2).

The case proceeded to trial, with the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom presiding.<sup>2</sup> During trial, the circuit court granted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The complaint only charged Mr. Smith with the Reckless Homicide count; the State added the count of Attempted Armed Robbery, Use of Force, as a Party of Crime in the Amended Information. (2:14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Smith's co-defendant, Mr. Kennedy, had a separate trial. (59:14).

the State's motion to dismiss the weapons enhancer component of the Reckless Homicide charge. (61:3-6).

At trial, the defense argued that the State could not prove that Mr. Smith had any knowledge of what Mr. Kennedy would do to the victim. (*See, e.g.,* 62:35-37). The circuit court denied the defense request to include a jury instruction derived from a Seventh Circuit pattern instruction, clarifying that if "a defendant performed acts that advanced the crime but had no knowledge that the crime was being committed or was about to be committed, those acts are not sufficient by themselves to establish the defendant's guilt." (47:12-14;66:17-24;App.139-141,154-161).<sup>3</sup>

During deliberations, after two of the fourteen original jurors had been dismissed, the State brought to the circuit court's attention that an assistant district attorney (not the attorney representing the State at trial) had, during trial, been in contact with one of the juror's mothers; that she had been text-messaging back and forth with the juror's mother (a friend of this assistant district attorney) after the juror's mother contacted her when her son told her that he was worried about retaliation for a guilty verdict from persons in the courtroom whom he believed to be Mr. Smith's family. (69:1-13;App.162-165). The circuit court questioned both the assistant district attorney and the juror; after this questioning, defense counsel agreed to continue with this juror on the panel. (69:13-36;App.165-171).

The jury found Mr. Smith guilty of the lesser-included offense of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The defense's requested instruction is attached to the State's response to Mr. Smith's post-conviction motion. (*See* 47:12-14;App.139-141).

Crime and not guilty of Attempted Armed Robbery as Party to a Crime. (70).

Mr. Smith filed a post-conviction motion, seeking a judgment of acquittal on grounds of insufficient evidence, or, should that request be denied, a new trial on grounds that (1) the circuit court erred in denying the defense request for a "mere presence" instruction and (2) he was denied the effective assistance of counsel, as his attorney failed to move to exclude a juror who violated the circuit court's orders and expressed fear of retaliation from persons whom he believed to be Mr. Smith's family. (45;App.110-127). He sought a *Machner*<sup>4</sup> evidentiary hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. (45:1,17-18;App.110,126-127).

Following post-conviction briefing, the circuit court denied Mr. Smith's motions without a *Machner* hearing. (46;47;48;51;App.105-109,128-148). With regard to his sufficiency challenge, the court acknowledged that "[t]here is no question that the evidence relative to the shooting was circumstantial," but nevertheless concluded that the evidence was sufficient to allow the jury to find Mr. Smith guilty of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime. (51:2; App. 106). The court further concluded that it "stands by its ruling" refusing to give the "mere presence" jury instruction. (51:3;App.107). With regard to Mr. Smith's argument that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel, the court concluded that Mr. Smith's arguments were "wholly speculative" and found that there was "nothing to support a finding that counsel's performance was either deficient or prejudicial." (51:5; App. 109).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Mr. Smith filed a notice of appeal, (52), and now appeals to this Court.

#### B. The Evidence Presented at Trial

The State called a total of fifteen witnesses at trial; the defense did not call any witnesses. Police witnesses testified that they responded to the scene of a shooting, and that the shooting victim, M.A., was unable to say who shot him and was taken to the hospital. (62:39-58). Police testified that a bullet cartridge was found at the scene, and the medical examiner testified that M.A. died from a single gunshot wound. (64:33-44,54-77).

The victim's girlfriend, Tashawna, testified that M.A. had his friend Kalop and two other men over to their apartment that afternoon and were playing video games. (62:58-62). She acknowledged that M.A. sold marijuana. (62:62).

She testified that she and her son were asleep at the time of the shooting that evening. (62:63-65). She explained that by this point, the two men other than Kalop and M.A. had left. (62:63-65). At approximately 10:20pm, Kalop ran into her room and said that M.A. had been shot. (62:63-65). She ran into the hallway of the apartment building and stayed with M.A. until police arrived. (62:65-66).

Tashawna testified that M.A. told her that the "n\*ggers off 38th" shot him, and that she took this to mean people who represent that area. (62:95). She further testified that she had known both Mr. Smith and Mr. Kennedy for years and considered them her friends; further, she said that she was not aware of any bad blood between Mr. Smith and M.A. (62:67-68,78). She also identified them in the surveillance video.

(62:72-76).<sup>5</sup> Tashawna further testified that she knew that Mr. Smith and Mr. Kennedy were from the area of "30th and Wright," but believed that they would "hang" at 38th Street. (62:69;95).

The landlord of the apartment complex testified that he provided video surveillance to the police, which was then played to the jury. (62:99-134;63:7-55).<sup>6</sup>

Detective Lewandowski testified to the contents of what appeared on the surveillance videos. (62:103-134;63:7-55). She testified that the videos—which captured activity on the outside of the building and in the entryway to the building—showed the following: Mr. Smith and Mr. Kennedy appeared in the motion-sensored video feed after an "Explorer type" truck arrived at the alley by the apartment building, (63:16); they walked up to a gate outside of the apartment building, (63:16-17); Mr. Smith left the gated area and walked almost halfway back to the truck until Mr. Kennedy said something to him and he returned, (63:17); M.A. came to the door, opened the gate, and let Mr. Smith and Mr. Kennedy into the building, (62:129-130;63:17); Mr. Smith left the gate open, (63:22); and the video then jumped from a timestamp of 23:36 to 24:24 (a difference of 48 seconds) due to lack of motion activity, (62:128-129,133).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When reviewing the video during trial, Tashawna confirmed that she saw a gun in Mr. Kennedy's hand, but then also stated that she saw something in Mr. Smith's hand; when asked what she saw, she responded: "I think a gun." (62:75). She later, however, clarified that she was "guessing" and did not know what Mr. Smith had in his hand in the video (62:78).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The surveillance videos shown to the jury are included in the record on appeal. (74:Trial Exhibit 28).

Detective Lewandowski further testified that the videos reflected that: Mr. Kennedy then left the apartment building with a gun in his hand right hand and a cell phone in his left hand, (62:133); Mr. Smith followed with what appeared to be a cell phone in his hand, and with the hood of his jacket, which upon entry was down, now up, (62:130-134); they both ran to the truck, which now had its brake lights and headlights on, (63:24-25); Mr. Kennedy got into the rear driver's side door, and Mr. Smith got into the passenger side, though she could not tell whether he got into the front seat or back seat, (63:24). There was no video showing the hallway where the shooting occurred. (*See generally* 62:103-134;63:7-55).

Larrisha M. testified that she had known Mr. Smith, who she called Zele<sup>7</sup>, since February of 2013. (63:67-69). She also stated that she owned a 2002 green Ford Explorer. (63:69). The State asked her if she knew where her Explorer was at about 10pm on the evening of the homicide, and she said she did not know as she was not home. (63:70-71). When asked whether she ever allowed Mr. Smith to drive her car, she answered: "He don't drive my car." (63:71). She explained that she went out to eat that evening with her sister and her sister's children, but did not remember whether her Explorer was at her home when she returned. (63:74-75). However, she remembered telling police that when she got home her car was no longer where she had parked it. (63:75). She explained that she was staying at her cousin's home, fell asleep, and woke up to Mr. Smith calling her name from outside. (63:76-78).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tashawna testified that she also knew Mr. Smith by this nickname. (62:70).

Larrisha M. testified that she remembered telling police that on the date of the homicide she and Mr. Smith went to her cousin's house to watch movies and hang out, and that she believes that Mr. Smith was still at her cousin's house when she left to go to dinner. (64:12-13). She explained that she would leave her car with her cousin, and on that day she left the keys to her car at her cousin's house. (64:15-16). She denied telling police that Mr. Smith asked to use the Explorer that day. (64:17). She explained that when she returned home from dinner, neither her cousin nor Mr. Smith were there. (64:18). She stated that she did not remember what time Mr. Smith came back, and denied telling police that it was around 11:30pm or midnight. (64:19-20). She stated that in the middle of the night she went to the bathroom and saw that her car was outside. (64:20). She further testified that she asked Mr. Smith why he had not called her, and he said either that he lost or broke his phone. (64:21).

She denied performing any Google searches about the homicide on her phone two days later; however, Detective Doreen Ducharme testified that Google searches concerning a March 4th Milwaukee shooting were performed on that phone two days after the shooting. (64:27-28;109-112). Larrisha confirmed Mr. Smith's telephone number at the time. (64:27-28). Larrisha also testified that she was hiding in a closet at the address where Mr. Smith was subsequently arrested, and that Mr. Smith did not run anywhere when police arrived on that date. (64:31).

Police Officer Eric Dillman testified that Mr. Smith and Mr. Kennedy were arrested at Mr. Smith's mother's residence nine days after the shooting, and that Mr. Smith was cooperative and that no gun was found. (64:44-54).

Detective Erik Gulbrandson testified that he interviewed Larrisha after the shooting and that she informed police that on March 4th, Mr. Smith told her that he did not call her because he had lost his phone at a concert; that she normally allowed Mr. Smith to use her car as needed; and that when he woke her up yelling to come in from outside she noticed that her car was there. (64:85-93).

Police testified that no evidence was found in the Explorer. (64:88,93-100). Lastly, police presented evidence reflecting that Mr. Smith's cell phone was found in the hallway of the apartment complex where M.A. was shot. (64:100-114;65:39-58).

The defense presented no evidence at trial. (66:13;App.150).<sup>8</sup>

Mr. Smith will present further facts relevant to particular issues in Argument.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The State Presented Insufficient Circumstantial Evidence to Meet its Burden to Prove that Mr. Smith was Guilty of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime.

#### A. Relevant case law and standards of review

A conviction that is based upon insufficient evidence cannot constitutionally stand. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Both of the August 1, 2013 transcripts are listed as "AM" transcripts. (65;66). The 68-page transcript, however, recounts the afternoon session. (66). These transcripts are in the correct chronological order in the appellate record index.

307 (1979). The due process clause of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions provide individuals with protection from conviction in a criminal case except "upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970); *accord State v. (Bonnie) Smith*, 117 Wis. 2d 399, 415, 344 N.W.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1983). The evidence must be "sufficiently strong and convincing to exclude every reasonable hypothesis consistent with the defendant's innocence in order to meet the demanding standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 502, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

Further, jury verdicts must be based on evidence, not "conjecture and speculation." *Herbst v. Wuennenberg*, 83 Wis. 2d 768, 774, 266 N.W.2d 391 (1978). While facts may be established by reasonable inferences as well as direct evidence, an inference is reasonable only if it can fairly be drawn from the facts in evidence. *In re Paternity of A.M.C.*, 144 Wis. 2d 621, 636, 424 N.W.2d 707 (1988). A proper inference is one drawn from logic and proper deduction. *Id.* And while "a jury may infer facts from other facts that are established by inference, each link in the chain of inferences must be sufficiently strong to avoid a lapse into speculation." *Piaskowski v. Bett*, 256 F.3d 687, 693 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001); *Yelk v. Seefeldt*, 35 Wis. 2d 271, 280-81, 151 N.W.2d 4 (1967).

In Wisconsin, a criminal defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal regardless of whether he specifically raised the issue at trial. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶4, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. An appellate court does not substitute its judgment for the fact-finder, but instead asks whether the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*, ¶56. If the reviewing court concludes the evidence was insufficient, the conviction must be reversed, with a remand to the circuit court for entry of a judgment of acquittal. *State v. Wulff*, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 144-145, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997 (citing *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 18 (1978)).

"One of the elements of aiding and abetting is that the defendant engage in some conduct (either verbal or overt), that as a matter of objective fact aids another person in the execution of a crime." *State v. Rundle*, 176 Wis. 2d 985, 1000, 500 NW.2d 916 (1993). A person who is merely present while a crime is being committed and fails to stop or report the activity is not a party to that crime. *See id.* at 1008 (a parent who was present during the physical abuse of his child and failed to intervene, report the abuse, or tell medical personnel how the child was injured, did not aid and abet the abuser).

B. The State presented insufficient circumstantial evidence and instead asked the jury to draw inferences from speculation.

Here, the evidence was insufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Smith in any way *knew* that Mr. Kennedy intended to commit or was committing any particular crime, including the crime of reckless homicide. As the circuit court explained to the jury, in order to prove that Mr. Smith was guilty of the offense of Second Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime, the State had to be able to prove the following: (1) either the defendant or Mr. Kennedy caused the death of M.A.; (2) that either the defendant or Mr. Kennedy caused the death by criminally reckless conduct; (3) that either Mr. Smith directly committed the crime or he intentionally aided and abetted the

commission of the crime. (*See* 67:69-82). "A person intentionally aids and abets the commission of a crime when, acting with knowledge or belief that another person is committing or intends to commit a crime, he knowingly either assists the person who commits the crime or is ready and willing to assist and the person who commits the crime knows of the willingness to assist." (67:71). As the circuit court explained, in this case that meant that "the defendant must know that another person is committing or intends to commit" reckless homicide "and have the purpose to assist the commission of that crime." (67:71); *see also* Wis. JI-CRIM 400.

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