RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-16-2016

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP1645-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ISIAH O. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Moreover, it was also reasonable for the jury to conclude that the shooting occurred during the tussle. The victim was shot in the abdomen, near his belt area, and the shot went straight through to his right buttock (64:62-63), suggesting a struggle rather than an intentional aiming of the gun towards an area that was more likely to kill the victim, such as his chest or head.

Finally, it was undisputed that Smith left the building holding a cell phone, but that the phone was the victim's, not his.⁷ Right after the shooting, the victim's girlfriend reported to the police that she had recovered a cell phone—later determined to be Smith's cell phone—which she found either underneath or right next to the victim (62:67; 63:9-10). Smith's cell phone got left behind at the crime scene (62:67, 75), and Smith was found with the victim's phone on his person (64:27-28, 108).

From this evidence, it was reasonable for the jury to infer that Smith engaged in the struggle with the victim, and was not just an innocent bystander, because he lost his own phone during the struggle or during the shooting.

d. The jury was entitled to infer that Smith had a guilty conscience, because Smith put up the hood on his sweatshirt, fled the scene after the shooting, and later sought out information about the shooting.

Smith argues that the jury should not have made inferences of his guilt based on his after-the-fact actions (Smith's brief at 14, 20-21), but the jury had the benefit of seeing Smith's demeanor and actions on the video, from which they could have properly concluded that Smith had a guilty conscience. Below, 333 Wis. 2d 690, ¶ 4 (credibility of witnesses and weight of evidence are for fact-finder to determine); Smith, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 33 (jury is in far better position to evaluate evidence than reviewing court).

The jury saw that, about 50 seconds after both men entered the building, Kennedy emerged from the building,

⁷ The victim had an iPhone (62:75) whereas Smith had a Japanese phone with a cracked screen (63:8-11; 64:82-83).

alone, without Smith, and was walking around in circles (62:133).8 Smith then emerged, and both men ran towards the getaway car (62:134; 63:23-24).

Smith also had his sweatshirt hood down when entering the building, and then less than a minute later, exited the building with his hood up (62:74-75, 130, 133-134; 63:23, 48-49). From this evidence, the jury was entitled to infer that Smith was complicit in the crime, because he tried to hide his identity and ran from the scene of the crime. The jury also could have reasonably inferred that Smith lagged behind Kennedy, not because Smith was trying to help the victim, but because Smith was trying to find his phone, in order to get rid of any evidence implicating him in the crime.

Smith's girlfriend also testified that when Smith came home to her cousin's house that night, she heard someone unfamiliar screaming her name outside, but then saw Smith and saw that her vehicle had been returned (64:18-19, 92). She asked Smith why he had not called her, and Smith said that he lost his phone or broken it (64:20-21, 90-91).

That week, the police were also "popping up" often, looking for her truck (64:23). Five days later, she hid in her closet when she saw the police coming with their guns (64:24-26). Both Smith and Kennedy were arrested together at her house, and Smith was found in the same bedroom where his girlfriend was hiding in the closet (64:45-48).

Smith's girlfriend denied that she used Google on her phone to do any searches on her phone, two days after the

⁸ The jury also apparently saw in the video that Kennedy looked around for Smith who had not come out, and then shouted something to Smith (67:59-60), but there was no audio or testimony to this effect.

homicide (64:27). But after the crime, detectives analyzed her phone upon her consent (64:108-110; 65:27), and found that, on March 6, 2013, her phone had performed a number of Google searches using the search terms "Milwaukee shooting," "Monday," and "March 4, 2013" (64:110-112; 65:29-35). The user also clicked on one link to an online news article entitled "Milwaukee man shot [and] killed Monday night" (65:35-36).

Using DNA tests, the DNA analyst could include Smith as a possible contributor to the DNA evidence on the phone, but definitively excluded Kennedy (65:45-46). The probability of randomly selecting an individual as a contributor for the phone was approximately one in 1,215 individuals (65:47).

From this evidence, the jury could have inferred that either Smith or the girlfriend used the girlfriend's phone to do Google searches about the crime. Whether Smith did the searches to see what the media was saying about the crime, or whether Smith's girlfriend did the searches to see if she was sleeping with a murderer, either way the jury could have used the evidence to infer that Smith had a guilty conscience about the crime, particularly when the jury could also see Smith running from the crime scene with his hood up and could infer that he was hiding in his girlfriend's house to avoid being arrested.

In summary, the record is replete with evidence from which the jury could reasonably conclude that Smith aided and abetted Kennedy in committing the reckless homicide, because the evidence—and reasonable inferences from the evidence—clearly showed Smith had the conscious desire to assist Kennedy in the crime, and participated in its perpetration by committing overt acts in furtherance of

Kennedy's actions. *Hecht*, 116 Wis. 2d at 620; *Rundle*, 176 Wis. 2d at 1005.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN REJECTING SMITH'S "MERE PRESENCE" JURY INSTRUCTION.

- A. Relevant legal principles and standard of review.
 - 1. The circuit court has broad discretion in instructing the jury.

A trial court has broad discretion in instructing a jury, but must exercise that discretion in order to fully and fairly inform the jury of the applicable rules of law. *Groth*, 258 Wis. 2d 889, ¶ 8. *See also State v. Dodson*, 219 Wis. 2d 65, 86, 580 N.W.2d 181 (1998) (court may exercise discretion regarding language and emphasis of instruction).

A defendant is only entitled to a theory of defense instruction if it is timely requested and supported by credible evidence. *State v. Bernal*, 111 Wis. 2d 280, 282, 330 N.W.2d 219 (1983). In support of a requested jury instruction, the <u>defendant</u> has the initial burden of producing evidence to establish a defense to criminal liability. *State v. Coleman*, 199 Wis. 2d 174, 181-182, 544 N.W.2d 912 (Ct. App. 1996).

Where the defendant does not meet this burden, the circuit court does not erroneously exercise its discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on the invalid defense. *State v. Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d 654, 675, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999).

2. This court independently reviews whether jury instructions were appropriate in the context of the overall charge.

Whether a jury instruction is appropriate is a legal issue subject to independent review. *Groth*, 258 Wis. 2d 889, ¶ 8. But this court should not view the challenged words or phrases in isolation, but should view the instructions in the context of the overall charge. *Id.* ¶ 9. *See also Coleman*, 199 Wis. 2d at 182 (ultimate resolution of appropriateness of instruction turns on case-by-case review of evidence, with each case necessarily standing on its own factual ground).

Relief is not warranted unless this court is persuaded that the given instructions, when viewed as a whole, misstated the law or misdirected the jury in the manner asserted by the challenger. *Groth*, 258 Wis. 2d 889, ¶ 9. *See also Dodson*, 219 Wis. 2d at 87-88 (this court examines context in which jury received instructions to determine whether verdict itself inspires confidence).

If the given instructions adequately cover the law applicable to the facts of the case, this court will not find error in the refusal of special instructions, even if the refused instructions would not be erroneous. *State v. Skaff*, 152 Wis. 2d 48, 59-60, 447 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1989).

B. The circuit court properly rejected Smith's proposed "mere presence" instruction, because it was not supported by credible evidence or controlling case law.

Smith argues the circuit court erred in rejecting the Seventh Circuit's "mere presence" instruction (Smith's brief at 17-21), because even if he took acts that "inadvertently

advanced the crime," the jury should have been instructed that those acts were insufficient without Smith's knowledge that the crime was going to occur (*id.* at 20-21). This argument, however, fails both as a matter of fact and a matter of law.

1. The proposed jury instruction was not supported by credible evidence.

First, the court properly rejected the proposed instruction based on the facts of the case, because the instruction was not supported by credible facts. *Bernal*, 111 Wis. 2d at 282. As discussed above, the record is replete with evidence from which the jury could conclude that Smith knew about the crime, helped execute it, and intended for his actions to assist Kennedy. Because the evidence did not support Smith's proposed defense, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying the instruction that Smith lacked any knowledge of the crimes. *Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d at 675.

Smith also contends that the burden was not on him to disprove his knowledge (Smith's brief at 21). But in order to be entitled to a jury instruction that he had no knowledge of the crime, the initial burden was on Smith to show he had no knowledge. *Coleman*, 199 Wis. 2d at 181-182 (in support of proposed jury instruction, defendant has initial burden of producing evidence to establish defense).

As the circuit court properly held, the "mere presence" instruction was not warranted because no evidence in the

⁹ Obviously, the State had the ultimate burden to prove the crime, including Smith's intent to assist Kennedy. But as already discussed, the State did not have to prove Smith had advanced knowledge of Kennedy's crimes in order to prove Smith's intent to assist.

record supported "the proposition that Mr. Smith had no knowledge that the crime was being committed or about to be committed" (66:14 [A-Ap. 151]). To the contrary, there was strong circumstantial evidence that Smith <u>did</u> know about the crime and intended to assist in its commission:

The fact that it appears there was a getaway driver. That to me is a very key circumstantial fact in terms of what were they really intending to do and what did Mr. Smith think they were intending to do? Running away from the scene of a crime, we've already talked about that. The State's gonna argue it shows his guilt. The defense is gonna argue it showed that he was terrified by what was unfolding in front of him to his complete surprise.

... [T]hat set of facts can be argued both ways, but ... [i]t's not true that there is no evidence. There's circumstantial evidence from which the jury could infer the defendant's knowledge.

(66:15-16 [A-Ap. 152-153]) (emphasis added).

2. The proposed jury instruction was not supported by controlling case law.

Second, the circuit court also properly rejected Smith's proposed jury instruction, because the instruction was not supported by controlling case law. *Skaff*, 152 Wis. 2d at 59-60. Contrary to Smith's assertion (Smith's brief at 19-20), *Skaff* is directly on point.

In *Skaff*, the defendant requested a similar instruction that his mere presence, even when coupled with his knowledge of the presence of cocaine, was insufficient to support a guilty verdict of possession with intent to deliver. *Skaff*, 152 Wis. 2d at 59. The circuit court, however, rejected that instruction in favor of the same pattern instruction that was given in Smith's case (66:46-48; 67:71-72), Wis. JI-Criminal 400 (2005), indicating that a person "does not aid and abet if he is only a bystander or spectator, innocent

of any unlawful intent, and does nothing to assist or encourage the commission of the crime." *Skaff*, 152 Wis. 2d at 59.

As the *Skaff* court explained, the two instructions were basically the same:

We are hard pressed to find any essential difference between Skaff's requested charge and that submitted by the court. Both advised the jury that a bystander, or a person merely present at a crime scene who has no unlawful intent and takes no action to assist commission of the crime, is not an aider or abettor. Skaff's proposed charge that his knowledge of the presence of cocaine is not sufficient to support a conviction paraphrases the court's charge respecting spectator's nonassistance a nonencouragement of the crime. The court's charge clearly instructs the jury that a spectator, though aware of the happening, cannot be guilty unless he has an unlawful intent and takes some action to further the crime.

Skaff, 152 Wis. 2d at 60 (emphasis added).

So too here, the court's pattern jury instructions properly instructed the jury that Smith, even if present at the scene as a bystander, could not be convicted of aiding and abetting unless Smith took some action with the intent or purpose of assisting Kennedy in furthering the crime (66:46-48; 67:71-72).

Contrary to Smith's contention that the word "bystander" implied that he could be convicted by inadvertently helping Kennedy (Smith's brief at 20), the jury instructions here—taken as a whole—did not imply that Smith could be convicted by taking innocent actions which happened to further the crime. Rather, the instructions were clear that Smith could only be found guilty if his actions furthered the crime, <u>and</u> if he *intended* for those actions to further the crime (66:46-48; 67:71-72).

Accordingly, the given instructions adequately covered the law applicable to the facts of the case, and the circuit court here did not erroneously exercise its discretion in refusing the proposed instructions, even though the refused instructions themselves may not have been erroneous. *Skaff*, 152 Wis. 2d at 59-60.

As the circuit court further explained, unlike the Seventh Circuit cases upon which the proposed instructions were based (A-Ap. 139-141), here there was no conflicting testimony or evidence about what Smith knew (66:19 [A-Ap. 156]). Thus, under Smith's facts, the Seventh Circuit would not have even sanctioned the proposed instructions (66:13-15 [A-Ap. 150-152]). The only evidence of Smith's intent was Smith's actions themselves, because Smith did not testify and Smith's actions were not the subject of conflicting testimony (66:19-23 [A-Ap. 156-160]).

C. Even if the circuit court improperly rejected Smith's proposed jury instruction, the error was harmless.

Smith also argues he is entitled to a new trial based on the circuit court's failure to give the requested instruction (Smith's brief at 17, 21). But jury instruction errors are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Hoover*, 2003 WI App 117, ¶¶ 29-34, 265 Wis. 2d 607, 666 N.W.2d 74 (harmless error when verdict would not be different under correct instruction).

Here, it is wholly speculative that the result of the trial would have been different, had Smith's requested instruction been given. Indeed, Smith's closing argument explained to the jury the very same theory of defense that Smith wanted the proposed jury instructions to explain—

namely, that Smith should not be held accountable for the crime if he was merely an innocent bystander or a person who set actions into motion without knowing that those actions would assist Kennedy (67:44-50). As Smith's counsel argued, "we don't have any evidence in this record that Isiah Smith knew that Unquail Kennedy was gonna do anything.... That's not enough to convict a person simply for being present when something bad happens" (67:44-45).

As Smith's trial counsel later reiterated, "[I]f you believe, all of you, 100 percent that Mr. Smith is ... innocent -- all of you believe 100 percent totally innocent and no knowledge, nothing to do with it, that obviously requires a not guilty finding" (67:47). He concluded, "[There is] [n]o indication that [Smith] knew that anything was going to transpire.... [T]here's somebody running out of the building with a gun, but that doesn't prove Mr. Smith knew a darn thing" (67:50).

The jury understood Smith's theory of defense, and the jury instructions properly outlined the controlling law. The jury simply chose to reject Smith's innocent bystander defense. Any error here was harmless. *Hoover*, 265 Wis. 2d 607, ¶ 34.

III. THE RECORD CONCLUSIVELY DEMONSTRATES THAT SMITH WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE AND JUROR BIAS CLAIMS.

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